# COMMITTEE ON RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE Meeting of June 3-4, 2013 Washington, D.C.

Attendance	1
Introductory Remarks and Recent Development	s 3
Approval of Minutes of the Last Meeting	4
Reports of the Advisory Committees:	
Civil Rules	4
Evidence Rules	15
Criminal Rules	17
Appellate Rules	25
Bankruptcy Rules	26
Report of the Administrative Office	
Next Committee Meeting	39

#### **ATTENDANCE**

The spring meeting of the Judicial Conference Committee on Rules of Practice and Procedure ("Standing Committee") was held in Washington, D.C., on Monday and Tuesday, June 3 and 4, 2013. The following members were present:

Judge Jeffrey S. Sutton, Chair
Deputy Attorney General James M. Cole
Dean C. Colson, Esq.
Roy T. Englert, Jr., Esq.
Gregory G. Garre, Esq.
Judge Neil Gorsuch
Judge Marilyn L. Huff
Chief Justice Wallace B. Jefferson
Dean David F. Levi
Judge Patrick J. Schiltz
Larry D. Thompson, Esq.
Judge Richard C. Wesley
Judge Diane P. Wood
Judge Jack Zouhary

Also participating were Professor Geoffrey C. Hazard, Jr., and Professor R. Joseph Kimble, consultants to the Standing Committee; and Peter G. McCabe, Administrative Office Assistant Director for Judges Programs. In addition to the Deputy Attorney General, the Department of Justice was represented at various points by Stuart F. Delery, Esquire, Theodore J. Hirt, Esquire, Christopher Kohn, Esquire, Elizabeth J. Shapiro, Esquire, and Allison Stanton, Esquire. Judge Michael A. Chagares, Chair of the Inter-Committee CM/ECF Subcommittee, also participated.

#### Providing support to the Standing Committee were:

Professor Daniel R. Coquillette The Standing Committee's Reporter Jonathan C. Rose The Standing Committee's Secretary and

Chief, Rules Committee Support Office

Deputy Rules Officer and Benjamin J. Robinson

Counsel to the Rules Committees

Julie Wilson Rules Office Attorney

Chief Counsel to the Rules Committees Andrea L. Kuperman Joe Cecil Senior Research Associate, Research

Division, Federal Judicial Center

Scott Myers Attorney, Bankruptcy Division, AO James Wannamaker Attorney, Bankruptcy Division, AO Attorney, Bankruptcy Division, AO Bridget M. Healy

Representing the advisory committees were:

Advisory Committee on Appellate Rules —

Judge Steven M. Colloton, Chair

Professor Catherine T. Struve, Reporter (by telephone)

Advisory Committee on Bankruptcy Rules —

Judge Eugene R. Wedoff, Chair

Professor S. Elizabeth Gibson, Reporter

Professor Troy A. McKenzie, Associate Reporter

Advisory Committee on Civil Rules —

Judge David G. Campbell, Chair

Judge Paul W. Grimm, Chair of Discovery Subcommittee (by telephone)

Judge John G. Koeltl, Chair of Duke Subcommittee (by telephone)

Professor Edward H. Cooper, Reporter

Professor Richard L. Marcus, Associate Reporter

Advisory Committee on Criminal Rules —

Judge Reena Raggi, Chair

Professor Sara Sun Beale, Reporter

Professor Nancy King, Associate Reporter

Advisory Committee on Evidence Rules — Chief Judge Sidney A. Fitzwater, Chair Professor Daniel J. Capra, Reporter

#### **INTRODUCTORY REMARKS**

Judge Sutton opened the meeting by thanking the chairs, reporters, committee members and staff for their extraordinary work in preparation for this meeting with its heavy agenda.

He reported that in April 2013, the Supreme Court adopted without change and sent to Congress the package of fifteen proposed rule changes previously approved by the Judicial Conference at its September meeting. Rules and forms to be amended are listed below.

- Appellate Rules 13, 14, 24, 28, and 28.1, and Form 4
- Bankruptcy Rules 1007(b)(7), 4004(c)(1), 5009(b), 9006(d), 9013, and 9014
- Civil Rules 37 and 45
- Criminal Rule 11
- Evidence Rule 803(10)

In accordance with the provisions of Sections 2072 and 2075 of Title 28, United States Code, these amendments will take effect on December 1, 2013, if Congress does not enact legislation to reject, modify, or defer them. They will govern in proceedings thereafter commenced and, insofar as just and practicable, all proceedings then pending.

Judge Sutton also stated that the Standing Committee would try this year to advance the timing of its report to the Judicial Conference to have it available by the first week in July. After the Judicial Conference meeting in September, an equivalent effort will be made to have the package of amendments approved by the Conference available to the Supreme Court no later than early October. Under the old schedule, proposed rule changes typically did not arrive at the Court until mid- to late-December after approval by the Judicial Conference at its meeting in September.

This new process will enlarge the time available and increase scheduling flexibility for the Court to address the proposed rule changes while still adhering to the timelines mandated by the Rules Enabling Act.

Judge Sutton also reported that the Chief Justice had made appointments for all Rules Committee vacancies in May 2013 so that the new committee members could be notified in time to attend their respective committee meetings this fall. This represented a tremendous effort on the part of all responsible to expedite the appointment process. Judge Sutton expressed his thanks on behalf of all the Rules Committee chairs to Laura Minor, Judge Hogan, and the Chief Justice.

He further expressed his intention to invite retiring Standing Committee members Judges Huff and Wood to participate as panelists at the January meeting, when their exceptional contributions would be formally recognized.

#### APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the minutes of its last meeting, held on January 3–4, 2013, in Cambridge, Massachusetts.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CIVIL RULES

Judge David G. Campbell, assisted by the advisory committee's two reporters, Professor Edward H. Cooper and Professor Richard L. Marcus, presented the report of the Civil Rules Advisory Committee. The advisory committee sought approval to publish for public comment a number of proposed amendments.

#### **ACTION ITEMS**

A. Proposed Action: Publication of Revised Rules 1, 4, 16, 26, 30, 31, 33, 34, 36, and 37 (the Duke Conference rules package)

Judge Campbell first presented the advisory committee's recommendation for publication of a series of amendments aimed at improving the pretrial process of civil litigation, which are the product of a conference on civil litigation that the Civil Rules Committee hosted at Duke University School of Law in 2010. The proposed revisions recommended for publication include changes to Rules 1, 4, 16, 26, 30, 31, 33, 34, 36, and 37. These recommendations were little changed in their basic thrust from the proposals that were presented for discussion at the January 2013 meeting of the Standing Committee. However, a number of revisions were made both to the amendments and to the committee notes to address the concerns expressed at the January meeting.

Judge Campbell first explained how the proposed revised rules relate to the three major themes of the Duke Conference. He stressed the primary role of Judge Koeltl and his Duke Conference Subcommittee as well as the advisory committee's two reporters in the development of the package of proposed amendments. These amendments are designed to reduce the costs and delays of civil litigation and to promote the aim of the rules "to assure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action and proceeding."

The three main themes repeatedly stressed at the Duke Conference were: (1) early and active judicial case management, (2) the necessity for proportionality in discovery, and (3) a duty of cooperation in the discovery process by counsel. The conclusion of the Duke Conference was that at present some or all of these elements are too often missing in civil litigation. The proposed rule changes address these three areas.

#### Case Management Proposals

The case management proposals reflect a perception that the early stages of litigation often take far too long. The most direct aim at early case management is reflected in proposed amendments to Rules 4(m) and 16(b). Another important proposal relaxes the Rule 26(d)(1) discovery moratorium to permit early delivery of Rule 34 requests to produce, but sets the time to respond after the first Rule 26(f) conference.

<u>Rule 4(m): Time to Serve the Summons and Complaint</u>: Rule 4(m) would be revised to shorten the time to serve the summons and complaint from 120 days to 60 days. As under the current rule, a judge would retain the ability to extend the time for service for good cause. The amendment responds to the commonly expressed view that four months to serve the summons and complaint is too long.

A concern raised by the Department of Justice about confusion over the applicability of Rule 4(m) to condemnation actions is addressed by amending the last sentence: "This subdivision (m) does not apply to service in a foreign country under Rule 4(f) or 4(j)(1) or to service of a notice under Rule 71.1(d)(3)(A)."

<u>Rule 16(b)(2): Time for Scheduling Order</u>: The proposed amendment to Rule 16(b)(2) would reduce the present requirements for issuing a scheduling order by 30 days to 90 days after any defendant is served or 60 days after any defendant appears. The addition of a new provision allows the judge to extend the time for a scheduling order on finding good cause for delay.

<u>Rule 16(b): Actual Conference</u>: Present Rule 16(b)(1)(B) authorizes issuance of a scheduling order after receiving the parties' Rule 26(f) report or after consulting "at a scheduling conference **by telephone, mail, or other means.**" The proposed amendment would eliminate the bolded language. Judge Campbell explained that the advisory committee believes that in the absence of a Rule 26(f) report, an actual conference by simultaneous communication among the parties and court is a very valuable case management tool. A judge would retain the ability to issue a scheduling order based only on the Rule 26(f) report.

<u>Rules 16(b)(3)</u>, <u>26(f)</u>: <u>Additional Subjects</u>: The proposals add preservation of electronically stored information (ESI) and agreements under Evidence Rule 502 on waiver of privilege or work product protection to the "permitted contents" of a scheduling order and to the Rule 26(f) discovery plan. A third proposal would add a new Rule 16(b)(3)(B)(v), permitting a scheduling order to "direct that before moving for an order relating to discovery the movant must request a conference with the court." A number of courts now have local rules similar to this proposal. Experience has shown that an informal pre-motion conference with the court often resolves a discovery dispute.

<u>Rule 26(d)(1): Early Rule 34 Requests</u>: After considering a variety of proposals that would allow discovery requests to be made before the parties' Rule 26(f) conference in order to enhance its focus and specificity, the advisory committee limited the proposed change to Rule 34 requests to produce by adding a new Rule 26(d)(2) that would permit the delivery of such requests before the scheduling conference.

A corresponding change would be made to Rule 34(b)(2)(A), setting the time to respond to a request delivered under Rule 26(d)(2) within 30 days after the parties' first Rule 26(f) conference. As Rule 34 requests frequently involve heavy discovery burdens, the advisory committee thought that early court consideration of such requests might be useful.

#### <u>Proposals to Incorporate Proportionality</u>

Several proposals seek to promote responsible use of discovery proportional to the needs of the case. Some important changes address the scope of discovery directly by amending Rule 26(b)(1) and by requiring clearer responses to Rule 34 requests to produce. Others tighten the presumptive limits on the number and duration of depositions and the number of interrogatories, and for the first time add a presumptive limit of 25 to the number of requests for admission other than those that relate to the genuineness of documents. Yet another proposed change explicitly recognizes the district court's existing authority to issue a protective order specifying an allocation of expenses incurred by discovery.

Rule 26(b)(1): Adopting Rule 26(b)(2)(C)(iii) Cost-Benefit Analysis: Given the widespread respect for balanced discovery principles embodied in Rule 26(b)(2)(C)(iii), the advisory committee proposed to transfer the analysis required by that rule to become a limit on the scope of discovery permitted by Rule 26(b)(1). Under the new proposed Rule 26(b)(1), "discovery must be proportional to the needs of the case, considering the amount in controversy, the importance of the issues at stake in the action, the parties' resources, the importance of the discovery in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery outweighs its likely benefit."

A corresponding change is made by amending Rule 26(b)(2)(C)(iii) to cross-refer to (b)(1); thus, the court remains under a duty to limit the frequency or extent of discovery that exceeds these limits, on motion or on its own.

Other changes are also made in Rule 26(b)(1). Under the amended rule, all discovery is limited to "matter that is relevant to any party's claim or defense." The ability to extend discovery to "any matter relevant to the subject matter involved in the action" is eliminated. The parties' claims or defenses are those identified in the pleadings.

Rule 26(b)(1) also would be amended by revising the penultimate sentence: "Relevant information need not be admissible at the trial if the discovery appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence." Many cases continue to cite the

"reasonably calculated" language as though it defines the scope of discovery, and judges often hear lawyers argue that this sentence sets a broad standard for appropriate discovery. To eliminate this potential for improper expansion of the scope of discovery, this sentence would be revised to read: "Information within this scope of discovery need not be admissible in evidence to be discoverable."

The proposed revision of Rule 26(b)(1) also omits its current specific reference to "the existence, description, nature, custody, condition, and location of any documents or other tangible things and the identity and location of persons who know of any discoverable matter." Discovery of such matters is so deeply entrenched in practice that the current reference is superfluous.

Several discovery rules cross-refer to Rule 26(b)(2) as a reminder that it applies to all methods of discovery. Transferring the restrictions of Rule 26(b)(2)(C)(iii) to become part of subdivision (b)(1) makes it appropriate to revise the cross-references to include both (b)(1) and (b)(2).

<u>Rule 26(c)</u>: <u>Allocation of Expenses</u>: Another proposal adds to Rule 26(c)(1)(B) an explicit recognition of the court's authority to enter a protective order that allocates the expenses of discovery.

<u>Rules 30, 31, 33, and 36: Presumptive Numerical Limits</u>: Rules 30 and 31 establish a presumptive limit of 10 depositions by the plaintiffs, or by the defendants, or by third-party defendants. Rule 30(d)(1) establishes a presumptive time limit of one 7-hour day for a deposition by oral examination. Rule 33(a)(1) sets a presumptive limit of "no more than 25 written interrogatories, including all discrete subparts." There are no presumptive numerical limits for Rule 34 requests to produce or for Rule 36 requests to admit. The proposals reduce the limits in Rules 30, 31, and 33. They add to Rule 36, for the first time, presumptive numerical limits.

The proposals would reduce the presumptive limit on the number of depositions from 10 to 5, and would reduce the presumptive duration to 1 day of 6 hours. Rules 30 and 31 continue to provide that the court must grant leave to take more depositions "to the extent consistent with Rule 26(b)(1) and (2)."

The presumptive number of Rule 33 interrogatories under the proposed amendment is reduced to 15. Rule 36 requests to admit under the proposed rule would have a presumptive limit of 25, but the rule would expressly exempt requests to admit the genuineness of documents. After due consideration, a proposal to limit Rule 34 requests to produce was rejected because of a concern that a limit might simply prompt blunderbuss requests.

<u>Rule 34: Objections and Responses</u>: Discovery burdens can be pushed out of proportion to the reasonable needs of a case by those asked to respond, not only those who make requests. The proposed amendments to Rule 34 address objections and actual production by adding several specific requirements.

Objections are addressed in two ways. First, Rule 34(b)(2)(B) would require that the grounds for objecting to a request be stated with specificity. Second, Rule 34(b)(2)(C) would require that an objection "state whether any responsive materials are being withheld on the basis of that objection." This provision responds to the common complaint that Rule 34 responses often begin with a "laundry list" of objections, then produce volumes of materials, and finally conclude that the production is made subject to the objections. The requesting party is left uncertain whether anything actually has been withheld.

Actual production is addressed by new language in Rule 34(b)(2)(B) and a corresponding addition to Rule 37(a)(3)(B)(iv). Present Rule 34 recognizes a distinction between permitting inspection of documents, ESI, or tangible things, and actually producing copies. However, if a party elects to produce materials rather than permit inspection, the current rule does not indicate when such production is required to be made. The new provision would direct that a party electing to produce state that copies will be produced, and directs that production be completed no later than the time for inspection stated in the request or a later reasonable time stated in the response. Rule 37 is further amended by adding authority to move for an order to compel production if "a party fails to produce documents."

#### **Enhancing Cooperation**

Reasonable cooperation among adversaries is vitally important to successful use of the resources provided by the Civil Rules. Participants at the Duke Conference regularly pointed to the costs imposed by excessive adversarial behavior and wished for some rule that would enhance cooperation.

<u>Proposed Addition to Rule 1</u>: The advisory committee determined that proposals to mandate cooperation would be problematic. Instead, it settled on a more modest proposal – an addition to Rule 1. The parties are made to share responsibility along with the court for achieving the high aspirations expressed in Rule 1: "[T]hese rules should be construed, administered, and employed by the court and the parties to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action and proceeding."

#### Standing Committee Discussion of Proposed Duke Conference Amendments

Following the presentation of Judge Campbell and the advisory committee reporters, Judge Sutton, echoed by every other Standing Committee member who spoke, thanked them, Judge Koeltl, the members of the Duke Conference subcommittee and the full Civil Rules Advisory Committee for the countless hours of painstaking deliberation and work reflected in the careful crafting of these proposals. Professor Cooper then offered to entertain any

questions from the Standing Committee concerning all elements of the Duke Conference amendments package.

One member expressed curiosity about the reasons for a small list of what he suspected were "unnecessary tweaks" in the current rules, which could distract those submitting comments and others from the truly significant and major positive changes to the civil litigation process made by other parts of the Duke Conference amendments package. He commented on his list of tweaks as follows.

He first expressed substantial skepticism as to the wisdom of changing the current text of Rule 1 to emphasize the duty of parties to cooperate. He thought little practical impact would be achieved. Rule 1 as written, he believed, has achieved a certain talismanic quality with the passage of time. Tinkering with its aspirational language seemed to him perilously close to the committee simply talking to itself.

As to the proposals' attempt to limit discovery by refining the definition of its permissible scope, he found that unlikely to succeed. He recalled the various efforts to redefine the scope of discovery over the years first to broaden it, and then later to narrow it. The sequence reminded him of Karl Marx's observations about history repeating itself first as tragedy and then as farce. He thought that the current proposal effectively brought us back to the most constricted definition of the permissible scope of discovery. In his view, all the various changes over time resulted in less practical impact on cases than any of their authors had expected. For the same reasons, he did not think this tweak of accepted discovery scripture would achieve very much, but did not oppose its publication.

Pursuing his list, he agreed with the change of the length of a deposition day from 7 hours to 6 if that had proven to be a more reasonable definition of a deposition day.

Concerning the proposed changes to Rule 16, he found the emphasis on face-to-face or simultaneous communication in a Rule 16 conference to be a distracting and almost counterproductive change. His practical experience as a judge in a far flung, heavy caseload district was that the achievement of simultaneous communication by a judge and opposing counsel was a "big deal, highly time-consuming, and unnecessary in very many cases." He acknowledged that counsel for most parties would love to "shmooze" with the judge, but have no real need to do so. He predicted that the change would just lead to the widespread delegation of discovery issues to magistrate judges.

Judge Campbell responded to several of the foregoing points. First, he observed that there was broad consensus of his committee that increased cooperation by counsel on discovery matters would in fact be helpful. However, any attempt to make it mandatory in the rules would likely just enhance satellite ligation on the issue. The purpose of the Rule 1 change was to emphasize that the duty of cooperation applied to the parties and not solely to the judge. It would also give the Federal Judicial Center ("FJC") a hook on which to hang their instruction to judges about cooperation as an element of best practices in case

management.

There was an even broader consensus on the efficacy of simultaneous communication in Rule 16(f) conferences as a case management tool. A spur to early case involvement by judges was widely thought to be central to speeding things up. Early exposure by the parties to the judge tends to eliminate a lot of collateral motion practice and frivolous delay. Once counsel get a sense of how a judge is likely to rule on a given topic, a lot of delay-causing tactics are simply never tried.

Judge Campbell said he has a 15- or 20-minute Rule 16 scheduling conference in every civil case. He also requires a joint telephone call before the filing of any written discovery motion. Professor Cooper added that there was initial committee sentiment to make a Rule 16 conference mandatory. However, after further examination and the expression of opinion by other judges, the advisory committee realized that in some cases the Rule 26(f) report shows that a Rule 16 conference really is not necessary.

Judge Sutton observed that all of these points were likely to provoke many comments upon publication. The initially skeptical member of the Standing Committee also conceded that he had misunderstood that a Rule 16 conference would simply be encouraged, but not mandatory under the proposed amendment. However, he stressed his thought that the advisory committee was doing a lot. For that very reason, it should want public comments only on the consequential and important changes. The proposed changes to Rule 1 and to the definition of the permissible scope of discovery did not, he thought, come close to the hurdle or threshold of importance for a rule change and thus presented a significant risk of merely distracting people from a focus on the important changes.

Another member praised the package, found no harm in publication of the proposed change to Rule 1, and found the text of the proposed Rule 16 clear enough that a Rule 16 conference was discretionary as opposed to mandatory. Judge Campbell stressed again that proposed Rule 16(b) makes clear that a Rule 26(f) report OR a Rule 16 conference meets the requirements of the proposed rules.

Another participant observed that the package added up to enshrining in the rules a series of practices that a judge may adopt, but doesn't have to. He thought a better approach to these discovery issues might well be an educational strategy implemented by the FJC as opposed to a strategy that relied on these permissive but not mandatory proposed changes in discovery rules.

The Department of Justice representative said that the Department shared virtually all of the concerns raised by the skeptics, but was doing its best to arrive at a timely position on the merits of the proposed changes. In the meantime, it supported publication of the proposed changes and thought the public comments would likely be illuminating and helpful. The representative observed that certain types of litigation by the Department, such as those relating to "pattern and practice," require full discovery, as well as initial time limits both

long enough and sufficiently flexible for the government to get adequate discovery in some of its cases.

A final comment was that the package overall was an "amazing job." This member observed that the committee note should include the rationale for cutting the number of depositions from 10 to 5 and questioned why the proposal contained no limit on requests for production. On the latter point, Judge Campbell responded that the advisory committee's sentiment was that the most useful discovery tool in many cases was a set of targeted production requests under Rule 34. The advisory committee thought that a limit on them might simply provoke blunderbuss production requests. When pressed whether some limit on Rule 34 requests would not help, Judge Campbell replied that in his court he did set a presumptive limit of 25.

Judge Sutton expressed his own concerns about the proposed change to Rule 1. However, he thought it would be anomalous to subtract from publication the only proposed remedial change that addressed one of the three major prongs of concerns expressed at the Duke Conference – cooperation by counsel.

After Judge Campbell expressed agreement with those who thought that an FJC education effort was also important, Judge Sutton called for a vote on publication of the proposed amendments to the rules relating to discovery. Publication of the package of Duke Conference amendments received unanimous support from the Standing Committee with the exception of three members who dissented from the decision to publish the proposed change to Rule 1.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote, approved publication of the proposed amendments to Rules 1, 4, 16, 26, 30, 31, 33, 34, 36, and 37, with three members objecting to the proposed amendment to Rule 1.

#### B. Proposed Action: Publication of Revised Rule 37(e)

The Duke Conference also addressed the need to focus on the issues of preservation requirements and sanctions with a particular emphasis on electronic discovery.

In January 2013, the Standing Committee preliminarily approved proposed amendments to Rule 37(e) for publication in August 2013, with the understanding that the advisory committee would present at the June 2013 meeting a revised proposal for publication that addressed concerns expressed in January.

The fundamental thrust of the proposal presented for publication remains as presented during the Standing Committee's January 2103 meeting – to amend the rule to address the overly broad preservation many litigants and potential litigants believe they have to undertake to ensure they will not later face sanctions. The proposal grew out of the suggestion made by a panel at the 2010 Duke Conference that the advisory committee

attempt to adopt rule amendments to address preservation and sanctions. The Discovery Subcommittee set to work on developing amendments soon thereafter. The advisory committee hosted a mini-conference in September 2011 to evaluate the various proposed approaches the subcommittee had identified. From that point, the subcommittee refined the approach that was first presented to the Standing Committee in January 2013.

The proposed amendment focuses on sanctions rather than attempting directly to regulate the details of preservation. But it provides guidance for a court by recognizing that a party that adopts reasonable and proportionate preservation measures in anticipation of litigation should not be subject to sanctions. In addition, the amendment provides a uniform national standard for culpability findings to support the imposition of sanctions. Except in exceptional cases in which a party's actions irreparably deprive another party of any meaningful opportunity to present or defend against the claims in the litigation, sanctions may be imposed only on a finding that the party acted willfully or in bad faith and that the conduct caused substantial prejudice. The amendment rejects the view adopted in some cases, such as *Residential Funding Corp. v. DeGeorge Finan. Corp.*, 306 F.3d 99 (2d Cir. 2002), that permits sanctions for negligence in failing to meet preservation obligations.

Judge Campbell gave a short explanation of how the concerns expressed at the January 2013 meeting had been addressed by tweaks in the rule or note language, and also reviewed the five questions specifically posed in the request for public comment. Slight changes in the rule and note text were thought necessary to make clear that a court could order curative measures beyond merely orders to a party to remedy the failure to preserve discoverable information. Similarly, changing the rule text to focus on "the party's actions" rather than simply "the party's failure" would operate to prevent the imposition of sanctions in the absence of willfulness or bad faith only if "the party's actions" as opposed to an "act of God" deprived the opponent of a meaningful opportunity to litigate the case.

Significant efforts were made to refine the rule's attempt to preserve a line of cases that allow the imposition of sanctions in cases of failure to preserve, not involving bad faith or willfulness, where a party's actions "irreparably deprive a party of any meaningful opportunity to present or defend against claims in the litigation." To address a concern that this provision should not apply to the deprivation of opportunity to litigate a minor claim in the case, the advisory committee had tweaked the text and added language to the note that explains that the provision requires an impact on the overall case. The advisory committee also recognized the concern that this provision could swallow the rule's limits on sanctions, but continued to think it necessary to avoid overruling a substantial body of case law. It was thought that public comment would assist in pointing out the need for any additional revisions. Other concerns expressed in January about whether the proposed rule could be construed as relating to sanctions for attorney conduct or as displacing other laws relating to preservation requirements outside the discovery context were eliminated by appropriate revisions in the committee note.

Members of the advisory committee believed that the coverage of the proposed new

Rule 37(e) was coextensive with that provided under the prior version and therefore elimination of the prior version was warranted.

The questions for public comment are:

- 1. Should the rule be limited to sanctions for electronically stored information?
- 2. Should Rule 37(e)(1)(B)(ii) be retained in the rule?
- 3. Should the provisions of the current Rule 37(e) be retained in the rule?
- 4. Should there be an additional definition of "substantial prejudice" under Rules 37(e)(1)(B)(i)? If so, what should be included in that definition?
- 5. Should there be an additional definition of willfulness or bad faith under Rule 37(e)(1)(B)(i)?

#### Standing Committee Discussion of Proposed Amendments to Rule 37(e)

There was a short committee discussion concerning Rule 37(e). It was observed that electronic discovery is rapidly becoming the most burdensome aspect of discovery and therefore may provoke the most comment.

Judge Campbell answered questions and elaborated on the proposal. He stressed that one major goal of the amendments to Rule 37(e) was to distinguish between the negligent and intentional loss of evidence. He also explained that an example of a critical evidentiary loss is the loss of the instrumentality causing injury before the defendant can examine it, and an example of a curative measure would be requiring the restoration of back-up tapes in the case of a loss of evidence.

A Standing Committee member expressed his disappointment that specific safe harbors were not a part of the amendments package. He said that the ability to preserve something that should have been discoverable in the context of a lawsuit was virtually impossible in a large organization. He thought that was particularly true with respect to the ever expanding social media. He asked if drafting some specific safe harbors, particularly for large organizations, should be attempted.

Judge Campbell replied that his committee has tried to address some of these concerns by strengthening the emphasis on the relevance requirements and by adding substantial prejudice as prerequisite to triggering sanctions for the loss or absence of evidence. The attempts at a "safe harbor" provision ran into a roadblock of serious dimensions. No one has any idea what ESI will look like 5-10 years from now.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of the proposed amendments to Rule 37(e), as revised after the January 2013 meeting.

## C. Proposed Action: Publication of Proposals to Abrogate Rule 84, Amend Rule 4(d)(1)(D), and Retain Current Forms 4 and 5 as a Part of Rule 4

Judge Campbell presented the recommendation that the Standing Committee approve the publication for comment of proposals that would abrogate Rule 84 and the Official Forms, and amend Rule 4(d)(1)(D) to incorporate present Forms 5 and 6 as official Rule 4 Forms.

A Rule 84 Subcommittee was formed to study Rule 84 and Rule 84 forms. The subcommittee found that these forms are used very infrequently and there is little indication that they often provide meaningful help to pro se litigants.

In addition, there is an increasing tension between the pleading forms in Rule 84 and emerging pleading standards. The pleading forms were adopted in 1938 as an important means of educating the bench and bar on the dramatic change in pleading standards effected by Rule 8(a)(2). They – and all the other forms – were elevated in 1948 from illustrations to a status that "suffice[s] under these rules." The range of topics covered by the pleading forms omits many of the categories of actions that comprise the bulk of today's federal docket. Indeed some of the forms are now inadequate, particularly the Form 18 complaint for patent infringement. Attempting to modernize the existing forms, and perhaps to create new forms to address such claims as those arising under the antitrust laws (*Twombly*) or implicating official immunity (*Iqbal*), would be a time-consuming undertaking. Such an undertaking might be warranted if in recent years the pleading forms had provided meaningful guidance to the bar in formulating complaints. However, the subcommittee's work has suggested that few, if any, lawyers consult the forms when drafting complaints. They either use their own forms, or refer to other sources, such as forms drafted by the Administrative Office's working group on forms.

Two forms require special consideration. Rule 4(d)(1)(D) requires that a request to waive service of process be made by Form 5. The Form 6 waiver of service of summons is not required, but is closely tied to Form 5. The advisory committee has concluded that the best course is to abrogate Rule 84, but preserve Forms 5 and 6 by amending Rule 4(d)(1)(D) to incorporate them recast as Rule 4 Forms attached directly to Rule 4.

#### Standing Committee Discussion of Proposed Abrogation of Rule 84 and Amendment to Rule 4

The Standing Committee's discussion was short. The current Rule 84 forms have become an obsolete appendage. The discussion of pleading standards in *Twombly* and *Iqbal* cases is simply illustrative of the many potential difficulties generated by the presence of obsolete forms in the Civil Rules. One member thought those cases should be specifically mentioned in any advisory committee note discussing the abrogation of Rule 84 and its forms. However, the prevailing view of other members and the reporters was that the Standing Committee should adhere to its practice of not taking a position on particular cases.

A final observation was that unless the Civil Rules Advisory Committee was prepared to undertake a thorough review of all of the civil forms, they should be abolished. It was further observed that the AO forms committee was a more than satisfactory substitute.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of the proposed amendments to Rules 84 and 4.

#### **INFORMATION ITEMS**

Judge Campbell agreed with Judge Sutton that the items contained in the information section of the Civil Rules Advisory Committee's report could be read rather than reviewed at this meeting.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON EVIDENCE RULES

Chief Judge Sidney A. Fitzwater, assisted by the advisory committee's reporter, Professor Daniel J. Capra, presented the report of the Evidence Rules Committee. The advisory committee sought final Standing Committee approval and transmittal to the Judicial Conference of the United States of four proposals: (1) an amendment to Rule 801(d)(1)(B) – the hearsay exemption for certain prior consistent statements – to provide that prior consistent statements are admissible under the hearsay exemption whenever they would otherwise be admissible to rehabilitate the witness's credibility; and (2) amendments to Rules 803(6)-(8) – the hearsay exceptions for business records, absence of business records, and public records – to eliminate an ambiguity uncovered during the restyling project and to clarify that the opponent has the burden of showing that the proffered record is untrustworthy.

#### **ACTION ITEMS**

### A. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rule 801(d)(1)(B)

The advisory committee proposed that Rule 801(d)(1)(B) be amended to provide that prior consistent statements are admissible under the hearsay exemption whenever they would otherwise be admissible to rehabilitate the witness's credibility. The amendment is intended to eliminate confusing jury instructions on the permissible use of prior consistent statements. Judge Fitzwater emphasized that this amendment would preserve the rule of *Tome v. United States*, 513 U.S. 150 (1995). Under that case, a prior consistent statement is not hearsay only if it was made prior to the time when the motive to fabricate arose.

A member of the Standing Committee observed that if a witness was in court and available to be cross-examined, there seemed little reason to exclude prior consistent statements on any basis. The advisory committee's reporter observed that this current

amendment represented a small step in that direction.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rule 801(d)(1)(B) for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

B. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 803(6)-(8) (Hearsay Exceptions for Business Records, Absence of Business Records, and Public Records) – Burden of Proof As To Trustworthiness

The advisory committee proposed that Rules 803(6)-(8) be amended to address an ambiguity uncovered during restyling, but left unaddressed. Subsequent restyling efforts in Texas revealed the ambiguity could be misinterpreted as placing the burden of proof on a proponent of a proffered record to show that it was trustworthy.

The proposed amendments clarify that the *opponent* has the burden of showing that the proffered record is untrustworthy. The reasons espoused by the advisory committee for the amendments are: first, to resolve a conflict in the case law by providing uniform rules; second, to clarify a possible ambiguity in the rules as originally adopted and as restyled; and third, to provide a result that makes the most sense, as imposing a burden of proving trustworthiness on the proponent is unjustified given that the proponent must establish that all the other admissibility requirements of these rules are met – requirements that tend to guarantee trustworthiness in the first place.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 803(6)-(8) for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

#### **INFORMATION ITEMS**

Judge Fitzwater noted as an informational matter that the Evidence Rules Advisory Committee had received a suggestion from a judge in the 9th Circuit to consider an amendment to Rule 902 to include federally recognized Indian tribes on the list of public entities that issue self-authenticating documents. The advisory committee decided not to pursue consideration of such a rule without further guidance from the Standing Committee. It believed that other rules might well impact Indian tribes. Judge Campbell noted that this spring the 9th Circuit had reversed a case of his involving the admission of a tribal document verifying membership in a tribe on the very ground that federally recognized tribes were not included in the Rule 902 list of public entities that can issue self-authenticating documents. Judge Sutton noted that the Appellate Rules Advisory Committee had previously dealt with the ability of Indian tribes to file amicus briefs by deciding to wait for a reasonable period to see if the 9th Circuit adopted a local rule allowing the filing of such briefs. He noted that this particular issue appeared to be one involving considerations of tribal "dignity" – perhaps

an inherently more political area where the Rules Committees should move with caution. However, he placed the practical concerns raised in a case like Judge Campbell's involving self-authentication of tribal documents in a different category. There he believed that some action by the Evidence Rules Advisory Committee might be warranted.

Finally, Judge Fitzwater reminded the Standing Committee of the symposium scheduled at the University of Maine School of Law in Portland this October, which will address the intersection of the Rules of Evidence and emerging technologies. This symposium will present an opportunity to discuss the alternatives to validate electronic signatures currently presented in the proposed amendments to the Bankruptcy Rules.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON CRIMINAL RULES

Judge Reena Raggi, assisted by the advisory committee's two reporters, Professor Sara Sun Beale and Professor Nancy King, presented the report of the Criminal Rules Advisory Committee. In summary, this report presented three items for action by the Standing Committee:

- 1. Approval to transmit to the Judicial Conference a proposed amendment to Rule 12 (pretrial motions), and a conforming amendment to Rule 34;
- 2. Approval to transmit to the Judicial Conference proposed amendments to Rules 5 and 58 (adding consular notification); and
- 3. Approval to transmit to the Judicial Conference a technical and conforming amendment to Rule 6 (the Grand Jury).

These recommendations were reviewed at the Standing Committee meeting as follows.

#### **ACTION ITEMS**

### A. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 12 (Pretrial Motions) and 34

These proposed amendments have their origin in a 2006 request from the Department of Justice that "failure to state an offense" be deleted from current Rule 12(b)(3) as a defect that can be raised "at any time," in light of the Supreme Court's decision in *United States v. Cotton*, 535 U.S. 625, 629-31 (2002) (holding that "failure to state an offense" is not a jurisdictional defect).

The advisory committee's efforts to craft such an amendment have sparked extensive and protracted discussions over time within the advisory committee and between the advisory

committee and the Standing Committee regarding various aspects of Rule 12. This interplay has resulted in three separate amendment proposals being presented to the Standing Committee, the third of which was approved for publication in August 2011. In response to the thoughtful public comments received and on its own further review, the advisory committee further revised its third proposal for amendment to Rule 12, but did not believe the revisions require republication. The submitted proposals had the unanimous approval of the advisory committee.

The substantive features of the proposed amendment to Rule 12 (which also restyles this rule) can be summarized as follows:

- (1) By contrast to current Rule 12(b)(1), which now starts with an unexplained cross-reference to Rule 47 (discussing the form, content, and timing of motions), the proposed revised Rule 12(b)(1) would achieve greater clarity by stating the rule's general purpose to address the filing of pretrial motions (relocated from current Rule 12(b)) before cross-referencing Rule 47.
- (2) Proposed Rule 12(b)(2) identifies motions that <u>may</u> be made at any time separately from Rule 12(b)(3), which identifies motions that <u>must</u> be made before trial. This provides greater clarity visually as well as textually. The current Rule 12(b)(3) identifies motions that may be made at any time only in an exception to otherwise mandatory motions alleging defects in the indictment or information.
- (3) Proposed Rule 12(b)(2) recognizes lack of jurisdiction as the only motion that may be made "at any time while the case is pending," thus implementing the Justice Department's request not to accord that status to a motion raising the failure to state an offense.
- (4) Proposed Rule 12(b)(3) provides clearer notice with respect to motions that must be made before trial.
- (a) At the start, it clarifies that its motion mandate is dependent on two conditions:
  - i. the basis for the motion must be reasonably available before trial, and
  - ii. the motion must be capable of resolution before trial.

This ensures that motions are raised pretrial when warranted while safeguarding against a rigid filing requirement that could be unfair to defendants.

(b) Proposed Rule 12(b)(3)(A)-(B) provides more specific notice of the motions that must be filed pretrial if the just-referenced twin conditions are satisfied. While the general categories of "defect[s] in instituting the prosecution" (current Rule 12(b)(3)(A))

and "defect[s] in the indictment or information (current Rule 12(b)(3)(B)) are retained, they are now clarified with illustrative non-exhaustive lists.

Proposed Rule 12(b)(3)(A) thus lists as defects in instituting the prosecution that must be raised before trial:

- i. improper venue,
- ii. preindictment delay,
- iii. violation of the constitutional right to a speedy trial,
- iv. selective or vindictive prosecution, and
- v. error in grand jury or preliminary hearing proceedings.

Proposed Rule 12(b)(3)(B) lists as defects in the indictment or information that must be raised before trial:

- i. duplicity,
- ii. multiplicity,
- iii. lack of specificity,
- iv. improper joinder, and
- v. failure to state an offense.

The inclusion of failure to state an offense in Rule 12(b)(3)(B) accomplishes the amendment originally sought by the Department of Justice.

The proposed rule does not include double jeopardy or statute of limitations challenges among required pretrial motions in light of concerns raised in public comments. The advisory committee believes that subjecting such motions to a rule mandate is premature, requiring further consideration as to the appropriate treatment of untimely filings.

- (5) Proposed Rule 12(b)(3)(C)-(E) duplicates the current rule in continuing to require that motions to suppress evidence, to sever charges or defendants, and to seek Rule 16 discovery must be made before trial.
- (6) Proposed Rule 12(c) identifies both the deadlines for filing motions and the consequences of missing those deadlines. Grouping these two subjects together in one section is a visual improvement over the current rule, which discusses deadlines in (c) and consequences in later provision (e). More specifically,
  - (a) Proposed Rule 12(c)(1) tracks the current rule's language in recognizing the discretion afforded district courts to set motion deadlines. Nevertheless, it now adds a default deadline the start of trial if the district court fails to set a motion deadline. This affords defendants the maximum time to make mandatory pretrial motions, but it forecloses an argument that, because the district court did not

set a motion deadline, a defendant need not comply with the rule's mandate to file certain motions before trial.

- (b) Proposed Rule 12(c)(2) explicitly acknowledges district court discretion to extend or reset motion deadlines at any time before trial. This discretion, which is implicit in the current rule, permits district courts to entertain late-filed motions at any time before jeopardy attaches as warranted. It also allows district courts to avoid subsequent claims that defense counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to meet a filing deadline.
- (c) Proposed Rule 12(c)(3)(A) retains current Rule 12(e)'s standard of "good cause" for review of untimely motions (with the exception of failure to state an offense discussed separately in submitted Rule 12(c)(3)(B)). At the same time, the submitted rule does not employ the word "waiver" as in the current rule because that term, in other contexts, is understood to mean a knowing and affirmative surrender of rights.

With respect to "good cause," the proposed committee note indicates that courts have generally construed those words, as used in current Rule 12(e), to require a showing of both cause and prejudice before an untimely claim may be considered. The published proposed amendment substituted cause and prejudice for good cause, hoping to achieve greater clarity, but after reviewing public comments and further considering the issue, the advisory committee decided to retain the term "good cause," to avoid both any suggestion of a change from the current standard and arguments based on some constructions of "cause and prejudice" in other contexts, notably, the miscarriage of justice exception to this standard in habeas corpus jurisprudence.

The amended rule, like the current one, continues to make no reference to Rule 52 (providing for plain error review of defaulted claims), thereby permitting the courts of appeals to decide if and how to apply Rules 12 and 52 when arguments that should have been the subject of required Rule 12(b)(3) motions are raised for the first time on appeal.

(d) Insofar as the submitted amendment, at Rule 12(b)(3)(B), would now require a defendant to raise a claim of failure to state an offense before trial, the proposed Rule 12(c)(3)(B) provides that the standard of review when such a claim is untimely is not "good cause" (*i.e.*, cause and prejudice) but simply "prejudice." The advisory committee

thought that this standard provides a sufficient incentive for a defendant to raise such a claim before trial, while also recognizing the fundamental nature of this particular claim and closely approximating current law, which permits review without a showing of "cause."

The committee note to accompany the proposed amendment to Rule 12 has been revised to make clear that the amendment is not intended to disturb the existing broad discretion of the trial judge to set, reset, or decline to reset deadlines for pretrial motions.

A conforming amendment to Rule 34 that omits language requiring a court to arrest judgment if "the indictment or information does not charge an offense" is also presented for publication.

#### Standing Committee Discussion of Proposed Amendments to Rule 12

Judge Raggi noted that the default deadline for filing the mandatory pretrial motions specified by Rule 12 would be at the start of trial when the jury is empaneled and jeopardy attaches when the jury is sworn.

Deputy Attorney General James Cole acknowledged that the Department of Justice originally prompted a review of this rule. He expressed the Department's gratitude to the Criminal Rules Advisory Committee and the Standing Committee for their years of hard work. He thought this proposed amendment would provide greater clarity regarding mandatory pretrial motions and therefore strongly supported it.

Another member wondered whether any defendant realistically would ever have "prejudice" resulting in the grant of relief after failing to file a mandatory pretrial motion. He discounted speculation that defense attorneys might try to "game" the system by failing to raise a defective indictment (*e.g.*, missing an element of the crime) until after jeopardy had attached. He pointed out that the attorney would risk the defect being noticed by the judge, and it could be cured by a proper instruction to the jury. Another member responded that a "prejudice" issue would likely arise on a post-trial motion only after jeopardy had attached and a defendant had been convicted. He predicted that district and appellate courts might arrive as to differing conclusions on what amounted to "prejudice" in the context of a new Rule 12.

A final concern was raised about how information protected by grand jury secrecy under Rule 6(e) might be raised in the context of a Rule 12 motion and how such information would relate to the mandatory filing and prejudice issues. The response of the reporters was that such information would be governed by the "reasonably available" standard of the rule. If such information was not "reasonably available" pretrial and was sufficiently important to the motion, a court would have discretion to hear the motion at issue at a later time.

Judge Raggi asked that former advisory committee chair Judge Richard Tallman and

current subcommittee chair Judge Morrison England be commended for their enormously important contributions to producing this final version of a proposed comprehensive amendment to Rule 12. Judge Sutton added his personal inclusion of Judge Raggi and Professors Sara Sun Beale and Nancy King to the list of those whom the Standing Committee should commend for their outstanding efforts. The members of the Standing Committee unanimously agreed.

Finally, Judge Sutton expressed his personal thanks to the chairs and members of the Criminal Rules Advisory Committee, whose efforts over the years had culminated in such a worthwhile compromise resolving the major prior difficulties and stumbling blocks to amending the rule.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 12 and 34 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### B. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 5 and 58 (Consular Notification)

The advisory committee also recommended approval of its second proposal to amend Rules 5 and 58 to provide for advice concerning consular notification, as amended following publication.

In 2010, the Justice Department, at the urging of the State Department, proposed amendments to Rules 5 and 58, the rules specifying procedures for initial proceedings in felony and misdemeanor cases respectively, to provide notice to defendants of consular notification obligations arising under Article 36 of the multilateral Vienna Convention on Consular Relations ("Vienna Convention"), as well as various bilateral treaties.

The first proposed amendments responding to this request were published for public comment and subsequently approved by the advisory committee, the Standing Committee, and the Judicial Conference. In April 2012, however, the Supreme Court returned the amendments to the advisory committee for further consideration.

At its April 2012 meeting, the advisory committee identified two possible concerns with the returned proposal: (1) perceived intrusion on executive discretion in conducting foreign affairs, both generally and specifically as it pertains to deciding how, or even if, to carry out treaty obligations; and (2) perceived conferral on persons other than the sovereign signatories to treaties – specifically, criminal defendants – of rights to demand compliance

with treaty provisions.<sup>1</sup>

The amendments were redrafted to respond to these concerns. The redrafted amendments were carefully worded to provide notice without any attending suggestion of individual rights or remedies. Indeed, the committee note emphasizes that the proposed rules do <u>not</u> themselves create any such rights or remedies. The Standing Committee approved publication of the redrafted amendments in June 2012.

Upon review of received public comments, as well as its own further consideration, the advisory committee made the following changes to the proposed amendments, none of which requires further publication.

The introductory phrase of submitted Rules 5(d)(1) and 58(b)(2) now provides for the specified advice to be given to <u>all</u> defendants, in contrast to the published rule, which had provided for consular notification to be given "if the defendant is held in custody and is not a United States citizen."

The change was made to avoid any implication that the arraigning judicial officer was required to ascertain a defendant's citizenship, an inquiry that could involve self-incrimination. Providing consular notice to all defendants without such an inquiry parallels Rule 11(b)(1)(O) (which the Supreme Court has now transmitted to Congress), which provides for all defendants to be given notice at the plea proceeding of possible immigration consequences without specific inquiry into their nationality or status in the United States.

As for the "in custody" requirement, interested parties disagreed as to when a defendant was "in custody" or "detained." Providing notice to all defendants at their initial appearance not only avoids the need to resolve this question, it avoids the need to consider a further notice requirement when defendants initially admitted to bail are subsequently remanded. Thus, while the advisory committee is mindful of the need to avoid adding unnecessary notice requirements to rules governing initial appearances, sentences, etc., it concluded, as now stated in the proposed committee note, that "the most effective and efficient method of conveying this [consular notification] information is to provide it to every defendant, without attempting to determine the defendant's citizenship."

Insofar as Article 36 of the Vienna Convention provides for signatory nations to advise detained foreign nationals of other signatory nations of an opportunity to contact their home country's consulate, litigation has not yet resolved whether such a provision gives rise to any individual rights or remedies. *See Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon,* 548 U.S. 331 (2006) (holding that suppression of evidence was not appropriate remedy for failure to advise foreign national of ability to have consulate notified of arrest and detention regardless of whether Vienna Convention conferred any individual rights). Thus, the advisory committee concluded that the remand of the amendment proposal from the Supreme Court could be understood to suggest that the rule may have gotten ahead of settled law on this matter.

#### Standing Committee Discussion of the Proposed Amendments to Rules 5 and 58

Deputy Attorney General Cole again commended Judge Raggi and her committee for its excellent work in assisting to conform the Criminal Rules with the treaty obligations of the United States.

Another member inquired whether judges would simply read the materials specified in the rule as an advisory notice to the defendant or whether the judge's reading of the notice was intended to provoke a response from the defendant. There was unanimous agreement with the position of the advisory committee that all the amended rule proposals sought to accomplish was simply to give the notification required by the treaty to the defendant of a foreign nation.

Deputy Attorney General Cole observed that treaty violations occur mostly in state court. The amended Rules 5 and 58 thus provide a good model for the states. Professor Beale observed that 47 percent of defendants in the federal courts are not U.S. citizens. This rule provides the basis for the court to make a good record of the notification it has provided.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 5 and 58, as amended following publication, for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

# C. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Technical and Conforming Amendment to Rule 6 (The Grand Jury)

The Office of the Law Revision Counsel informed the Administrative Office of a reorganization of chapter 15 of Title 50 of the United States Code. This revision has made incorrect a current statutory reference in Rule 6(e)(3)(D) to the code section defining counterintelligence. The proposed amendment would simply substitute a reference to the correct section of Title 50 for the current one that is now obsolete.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendment to Rule 6 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

#### **INFORMATION ITEM**

The Department of Justice has urged amendment of Criminal Rule 4 to facilitate service of process on foreign corporations. It submits that the current rule impedes prosecution of foreign corporations that have committed offenses punishable in the United States, but that cannot be served for lack of a last known address or principal place of business in the United States. It argues that this has created a "growing class of organizations, particularly foreign corporations" that have gained "an undue advantage" over the government relating to the initiation of criminal proceedings. The advisory committee

has referred the matter to a subcommittee for further study and report.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON APPELLATE RULES

Judge Steven M. Colloton, assisted by the advisory committee's reporter, Professor Catherine T. Struve (by telephone), presented the report of the Appellate Rules Advisory Committee. In conjunction with the Bankruptcy Rules Advisory Committee's proposal to amend Part VIII of the Bankruptcy Rules – the rules that govern appeals from bankruptcy court to a district court or bankruptcy appellate panel ("BAP") – the Appellate Rules Advisory Committee sought final approval of a proposed amendment to Appellate Rule 6 (concerning appeals to the court of appeals in a bankruptcy case).

#### **ACTION ITEM**

### A. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Appellate Rule 6

The proposed amendment to Appellate Rule 6 would: (1) update that rule's cross-references to the Bankruptcy Part VIII Rules, (2) amend Rule 6(b)(2)(A)(ii) to remove an ambiguity dating from the 1998 restyling, (3) add a new Rule 6(c) to address permissive direct appeals from the bankruptcy court under 28 U.S.C. § 158(d)(2), and (4) revise Rule 6 to take account of the range of methods available now or in the future for dealing with the record on appeal.

Proposed Appellate Rule 6(c) would treat the record on direct appeals differently than existing Rule 6(b) treats the record on bankruptcy appeals from a district court or BAP. Rule 6(b) contains a streamlined procedure for redesignating and forwarding the record on appeal, because in the appeals covered by Rule 6(b), the appellate record already will have been compiled for purposes of the appeal to the district court or the BAP. In a direct appeal, the record generally will be compiled from scratch. The closest model for the compilation and transmission of the bankruptcy court record is the set of rules chosen by the Bankruptcy Rules Part VIII project for appeals from the bankruptcy court to the district court or the BAP. Thus, proposed Rule 6(c) incorporates the relevant Part VIII rules by reference while making some adjustments to account for the particularities of direct appeals to the court of appeals.

Both the Bankruptcy Rules Part VIII project and the project to revise Appellate Rule 6 have highlighted changes in the treatment of the record. The Appellate Rules were drafted on the assumption that the record on appeal would be available only in paper form. The proposed Part VIII Rules are drafted with a contrary presumption in mind: the default principle under those rules is that the record will be made available in electronic form. In revising Rule 6(b) and in drafting new Rule 6(c), the Appellate Rules Committee adopted language that can accommodate the various ways in which the lower-court record could be made available to the court of appeals -e.g., in paper form, in electronic files that can be sent to the court of appeals, or by means of electronic links.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Appellate Rule 6 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

#### **INFORMATION ITEMS**

Two other matters were briefly discussed during Judge Colloton's presentation. First, a Standing Committee member inquired whether the conversion of page limits to word limits in appellate briefs may not have resulted in the filing of longer appellate briefs. Judge Colloton said a review of the matter would be part of the advisory committee's broader review of other page limits for appellate filings.

Another Standing Committee member prompted a general discussion of whether appellate courts are sufficiently responsive to the need for swift adjudication of proceedings under the Hague Convention on the Civil Aspects of International Child Abduction. While appellate consideration of stay applications is usually prompt, decisions on the merits can sometimes be delayed. The discussion resulted in a preliminary suggestion that a letter from the advisory committee chair to chief judges of the circuits might be appropriate to remind them of the Supreme Court's concern about expediting these cases as expressed in the opinions in *Chafin v. Chafin*, 133 S. Ct. 1017 (2013). Judge Colloton agreed to discuss the matter with Judge Sutton, bearing in mind that letters to chief judges from the committees should be employed sparingly if they are to have the desired effect.

Other members of the Standing Committee were of the view that despite the traditional reluctance of the rules committees to endorse provisions that require the expediting of specific classes of cases, stronger measures than mere exhortation may be required.

#### REPORT OF THE ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON BANKRUPTCY RULES

Judge Eugene Wedoff, assisted by the advisory committee's two reporters, Professor Elizabeth Gibson and Professor Troy McKenzie, presented the report of the Bankruptcy Rules Advisory Committee. The advisory committee sought the Standing Committee's final approval and transmission to the Judicial Conference of most of the previously published items: the revision of the Part VIII Rules and amendments to 10 other rules and 5 official forms. Because the advisory committee made significant changes after publication to one set of published forms – the means test forms – it requested that those forms be republished.

The advisory committee also requested publication for public comment of (1) the remaining group of modernized forms for use in individual-debtor bankruptcy cases, and (2) a chapter 13 plan form and implementing rule amendments.

#### **ACTION ITEMS**

In brief, the actions sought from the Standing Committee by Judge Wedoff and his committee were as follows.

- 1. Approval for transmission to the Judicial Conference of amendments to Rules 1014, 7004, 7008, 7012, 7016, 7054, 8001-8028, 9023, 9024, 9027, and 9033, and Official Forms 3A, 3B, 6I, and 6J;
- 2. Approval for transmission to the Judicial Conference without publication of a conforming amendment to Official Form 23;
- 3. Approval for republication in August 2013 of amendments to the means test forms Official Forms 22A-1, 22A-2, 22B, 22C-1, and 22C-2 along with the initial publication of Official Form 22A-1Supp; and
- 4. Approval for publication in August 2013 of amendments to Rules 2002, 3002, 3007, 3012, 3015, 4003, 5005, 5009, 7001, 9006, and 9009, and Official Forms 101, 101A, 101B, 104, 105, 106Sum, 106A/B, 106C, 106D, 106E/F, 106G, 106H, 106Dec, 107, 112, 113, 119, 121, 318, 423, 427, 17A, 17B, and 17C.

Judge Wedoff first discussed the rules recommended for transmission to the Judicial Conference and the forms sought to be approved by the Judicial Conference with an effective date of December 1, 2013.

### A. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 7008, 7012, 7016, 9027, and 9033

Amendments to Rules 7008, 7012, 7016, 9027, and 9033 are proposed in response to *Stern v. Marshall*, 131 S. Ct. 2594 (2011). The Bankruptcy Rules follow the Judicial Code's division between core and non-core proceedings. The current rules contemplate that a bankruptcy judge's adjudicatory authority is more limited in non-core proceedings than in core proceedings. For example, parties are required to state whether they do or do not consent to final adjudication by the bankruptcy judge in non-core proceedings. There is no comparable requirement for core proceedings. *Stern*, which held that a bankruptcy judge did not have authority under Article III of the Constitution to enter final judgment in a proceeding deemed core under the Judicial Code, has introduced the possibility that such a proceeding may nevertheless lie beyond the power of a bankruptcy judge to adjudicate finally. In other words, a proceeding could be "core" as a statutory matter but "non-core" as a constitutional matter.

The proposals would amend the Bankruptcy Rules in three respects. First, the terms "core" and "non-core" would be removed from Rules 7008, 7012, 9027, and 9033 to avoid possible confusion in light of *Stern*. Second, parties in all bankruptcy proceedings (including removed actions) would be required to state whether they do or do not consent to entry of final orders or judgment by the bankruptcy judge. Third, Rule 7016, which governs pretrial

procedures, would be amended to direct bankruptcy courts to decide the proper treatment of proceedings.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 7008, 7012, 7016, 9027, and 9033 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### B. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 8001-8028 (Part VIII of the Bankruptcy Rules)

On Tuesday morning, June 4, 2013, the Standing Committee meeting opened with a presentation by Professor Elizabeth Gibson of the comprehensive set of amendments to Part VIII of the bankruptcy appellate rules. These amendments are designed with the goal of making the bankruptcy appellate rules consistent with the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure. Professor Gibson observed that this project of conforming and restyling the bankruptcy appellate rules, which is now finally approaching conclusion, has been a lengthy one – ongoing since she first became a reporter to the Bankruptcy Rules Advisory Committee.

In summary, she noted that the proposed amendments to Rules 8001-8028 (Part VIII of the Bankruptcy Rules) constitute a comprehensive revision of the rules governing bankruptcy appeals to district courts, bankruptcy appellate panels, and with respect to some procedures, courts of appeals. This multi-year project attempted to bring the bankruptcy appellate rules into closer alignment with the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure; to incorporate a presumption favoring the electronic transmission, filing, and service of court documents; and to adopt a clearer style. Existing rules have been reorganized and renumbered, some rules have been combined, and provisions of other rules have been moved to new locations. Much of the language of the existing rules has been restyled.

In general, the public comments reflected a positive response to the proposed revision of the Part VIII rules. Thus, the advisory committee unanimously voted to recommend them for final approval to the Standing Committee with the post-publication changes listed by Professor Gibson as follows:

Rule 8003. Several comments pointed out that the provision in subdivision (d) directing the clerk of the appellate court to docket an appeal "under the title of the bankruptcy court action" is unclear since "action" might refer to the overall bankruptcy case or to an adversary proceeding within the case. The advisory committee agreed that this was an instance in which the Appellate Rules' language needs to be modified for the bankruptcy context. It voted to change the wording in Rule 8003(d)(2) and the parallel provision in Rule 8004(c)(2) to "under the title of the bankruptcy case and the title of any adversary proceeding."

Rule 8004. The clerk of a BAP commented on Rule 8004(c)(3), which directed the dismissal of an appeal if leave to appeal is denied. She stated that appellants sometimes file a motion for leave to appeal when leave is not required and in that situation, although the

motion is denied, dismissal is not appropriate. The advisory committee voted to delete the sentence in question, which is not contained in either the current bankruptcy rule or the appellate rule from which the proposed rule is derived.

Rule 8005. Several comments questioned whether an election to have an appeal heard by the district court, rather than the BAP, must still be made by a statement in a separate document. At the spring meeting, the advisory committee approved for publication an amendment to the notice of appeal form, Official Form 17A, that will include a section for making an election under this rule. That form, which if approved will take effect on the same date as the rule, will clarify that the separate-document rule no longer applies.

The advisory committee agreed with one of the comments it received, which recommended that the BAP clerk notify the bankruptcy clerk if an appeal is transferred to the district court, and it voted to add a sentence to that effect in subdivision (b).

Rule 8007. The advisory committee agreed that the rule should be clarified to eliminate the possibility of filing a motion for a stay in the appellate court prior to the filing of a notice of appeal.

Rule 8013. One comment suggested that district courts be allowed to require a notice of motion in bankruptcy appeals if they otherwise follow that practice in their court. Another comment made a similar suggestion concerning proposed orders. The advisory committee agreed with these comments and added "Unless the court orders otherwise" to subdivision (a)(2)(D)(ii).

Rule 8016. Two comments raised questions about subdivision (f), which addressed the consequences of failing to file a brief on time. It was unclear why the provision was located in the rule governing cross-appeals, and it seemed to be inconsistent with a provision in Rule 8018. The advisory committee thought that the comments were well taken, and it voted to delete the subdivision.

Rule 8018. The advisory committee voted to reword the provision to clarify that dismissal of an appeal or cross-appeal can occur only upon motion of a party or on the court's own motion, after which the appellant would have an opportunity to respond.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 8001-8028 (Part VIII of the Bankruptcy Rules) for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### C. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rule 1014(b)

Rule 1014(b) governs the procedure for determining where cases will proceed if petitions are filed in different districts by, against, or regarding the same debtor or related debtors. The rule currently provides that, upon motion, the court in which the first-filed petition is pending may determine – in the interest of justice or for the convenience of the parties – the district or districts in which the cases will proceed. Except as otherwise ordered

by that court, proceedings in the cases in the other districts "shall be stayed by the courts in which they have been filed" until the first court makes its determination.

The proposed amendment both clarifies and narrows the scope of the stay provision. The current rule applies a blanket rule that all the later-filed cases are stayed while the first court makes the venue determination. The amended rule would limit the stay to situations in which the first court finds that the rule in fact applies and that a stay is needed.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendment to Rule 1014(b) for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### D. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 7004(e)

Rule 7004(e) governs the time during which a summons is valid after its issuance in an adversary proceeding. The current rule provides that a summons is valid so long as it is served within 14 days of its issuance. The advisory committee sought final approval of an amendment to reduce that period from 14 days to 7 days.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendment to Rules 7004(e), with a minor technical revision, for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### E. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 7008 and 7054

Rules 7008(b) and 7054 would be amended to change the procedure for seeking attorney's fees in bankruptcy proceedings. The advisory committee proposed the amendments in order to clarify and to promote uniformity in the procedures for seeking an award of attorney's fees. Rule 7054 would be amended to include much of the substance of Civil Rule 54(d)(2). Rule 7008(b), which currently addresses attorney's fees, would be deleted. Just as the procedure for seeking attorney's fees in civil actions is governed exclusively by Civil Rule 54(d), Bankruptcy Rule 7054 would provide the exclusive procedure for seeking an award of attorney's fees in bankruptcy cases, unless the governing substantive law requires the fees to be proved at trial as an element of damages.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 7008 and 7054 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### F. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Rules 9023 and 9024

Rule 9023, which governs new trials and amendment of judgments, and Rule 9024, which governs relief from judgments or orders, would be amended to include a cross-reference to proposed Rule 8008, which governs indicative rulings. The advisory committee

proposed these amendments in order to call attention at an appropriate place in the rules to that new bankruptcy appellate rule. Rule 8008 prescribes procedures for both the bankruptcy court and the appellate court when an indicative ruling is sought. It therefore incorporates provisions of both Civil Rule 62.1 and Appellate Rule 12.1. Because a litigant filing a post-judgment motion that implicates the indicative-ruling procedure will not encounter a rule similar to Civil Rule 62.1 in either the Part VII or Part IX rules, the advisory committee decided that it would be useful to include a cross-reference to Rule 8008 in the rules governing post-judgment motions.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Rules 9023 and 9024 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### G. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Official Forms 3A, 3B, 6I, and 6J

Official Forms 3A (Application for Individuals to Pay the Filing Fee in Installments), 3B (Application to Have the Chapter 7 Filing Fee Waived), 6I (Schedule I: Your Income), and 6J (Schedule J: Your Expenses) were selected for the initial-implementation stage of the Forms Modernization Project ("FMP") because they make no significant change in substantive content and simply replace existing forms that apply only in individual-debtor cases. The restyled forms all involve the debtors' income and expenses, and they are employed by a range of users: the courts, U.S. trustees, and case trustees, for varied purposes. The publication of these forms has already provided valuable feedback on the FMP approach to form design, and, if adopted, their use will provide a helpful gauge of the effectiveness of the FMP approach. Published last August, these forms were recommended by the advisory committee, unanimously, for final approval with some post-publication changes.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Official Forms 3A, 3B, 6I, and 6J, with the post-publication changes, for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval.

### H. Proposed Action: Transmission to the Judicial Conference of Proposed Amendments to Official Form 23

The Supreme Court has approved an amendment to Rule 1007(b)(7), due to go into effect on December 1, 2013, that will relieve individual debtors of the obligation to file Official Form 23 if the provider of an instructional course concerning personal financial management directly notifies the court that the debtor has completed the course. The preface and instructions to Official Form 23 would be amended to reflect that change by stating that a debtor should file the form only if the course provider has not already notified the court of the debtor's completion of the course.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved the proposed amendments to Official Form 23 for transmission to the Judicial Conference for its approval without publication.

# I. Proposed Action: Republication of Proposed Amendments to Official Forms 22A-1, 22A-2, 22B, 22C-1, and 22C-2, and Publication of Proposed New Official Form 22A-1Supp

Official Forms 22A-1, 22A-2, 22B, 22C-1, and 22C-2, the restyled means-test forms for individual debtors under chapters 7, 11, and 13, were published for comment in August 2012. Because it determined that the changes made in response to comments were of sufficient significance to require republication, the advisory committee requested that the newly revised means-test forms be published for public comment in August. Along with the republication of Official Forms 22A-1, 22A-2, 22B, 22C-1, and 22C-2, the advisory committee requested publication of new Official Form 22A-1Supp, which was created in response to the comments.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved for publication the proposed amendments to Official Forms 22A-1, 22A-2, 22B, 22C-1, and 22C-2 as revised and Form 22A-1Supp.

### J. Proposed Action: Publication of Rules Related to New Chapter 13 Plan Form

For the past two years, the advisory committee has studied the creation of a national plan form for chapter 13 cases. The twin goals of the project have been to bring more uniformity to chapter 13 practice and to simplify the review of chapter 13 plans by debtors, courts, trustees, and creditors. These goals are consistent with the Supreme Court's decision in *United Student Aid Funds, Inc. v. Espinosa*, 130 S. Ct. 1367 (2010), which held that an order confirming a procedurally improper chapter 13 plan was nevertheless entitled to preclusive effect and that bankruptcy judges must independently review chapter 13 plans for conformity with applicable law.

The advisory committee approved a draft plan and accompanying rule amendments at its April 2013 meeting in New York. The advisory committee voted unanimously to seek publication of the form and rule amendments related to the new chapter 13 plan.

Professor Troy McKenzie led the following discussion, which summarizes the amendments to the Bankruptcy Rules that the Standing Committee voted to publish with the chapter 13 plan form.

Rule 2002. The Bankruptcy Rules describe categories of events that trigger the obligation to provide notice. Rule 2002 currently requires 28 days' notice of the time to file objections to confirmation of a chapter 13 plan as well as of the confirmation hearing itself. An amendment to Rule 3015(f), however, would require that objections to confirmation of a chapter 13 plan be filed at least seven days before the confirmation hearing.

The advisory committee proposed to retain the 28-day period for notice of a chapter 13 confirmation hearing, but to amend Rule 2002 in light of the new time period for

objections to confirmation in Rule 3015(f). Thus, Rule 2002 would require 21 days' notice of the time to file objections to confirmation.

Rule 3002. Rule 3002(a) would be amended to require a secured creditor, as well as an unsecured creditor, to file a proof of claim in order to have an allowed claim. In keeping with Code § 506(d), however, the amendment also makes clear that the failure of a secured creditor to file a proof of claim does not render the creditor's lien void. Second, Rule 3002(c) would be amended to change the calculation of the claims bar date. Rather than 90 days from the meeting of creditors under Code § 341, the bar date would be 60 days after the petition is filed in a chapter 13 case. The amended rule includes a provision for an extension of the bar date when the debtor has failed to provide in a timely manner a list of creditors' names and addresses for notice purposes. In response to concerns raised during a miniconference held in Chicago, the amended rule would also include a longer bar date for certain supporting documents required for mortgage claims on a debtor's principal residence. With those claims, the mortgagee would be required to file a proof of claim within the 60-day period but would have an additional 60 days to file a supplement with the supporting documents.

Rule 3007. Objections to claims are governed by Rule 3007. Because the plan form permits some determinations regarding claims to be made through the plan, the advisory committee proposed an amendment to Rule 3007. The amended rule would provide an exception to the need to file a claim objection if a determination with respect to that claim is made in connection with plan confirmation under proposed Rule 3012.

Rule 3012. The proposed amendment would provide that the amount of a secured claim under Code § 506(a) may be determined in a proposed plan, subject to objection and resolution at the confirmation hearing. Current Rule 3012 provides for the valuation of a secured claim by motion only. The amended rule would also make clear that a chapter 13 plan would not control the amount of a claim entitled to priority treatment or the amount of a secured claim of a governmental unit.

Rule 3015. Rule 3015 governs the filing of a chapter 13 plan as well as plan modifications and objections to confirmation. The advisory committee proposed extensive amendments to the rule. They include an amended subdivision (c) requiring use of the official form for chapter 13 plans, a new 7-day deadline in Rule 3015(f) for filing objections to confirmation, and an amended subdivision (g) providing when the plan terms control over contrary proofs of claim. These amendments dovetail with proposed amendments to Rules 2002, 3007, and 3012.

Rule 4003. Code § 522(f) permits a debtor to avoid certain liens encumbering property that is exempt from the debtor's estate. Current Rule 4003(d) provides that lien avoidance under this section of the Code requires a motion. The plan form, however, would include a provision for a debtor to request lien avoidance as permitted by § 522(f). The advisory committee proposed an amendment to Rule 4003(d) to give effect to that part of the plan form.

Rule 5009. The advisory committee has included a procedure in proposed amended Rule 5009(d) for the debtor to obtain an order confirming that a secured claim has been satisfied. The language of the proposed amended rule permits the debtor to request entry of the order but does not specify the requirements for lien satisfaction.

*Rule 7001*. The advisory committee proposed to amend Rule 7001(2) so that determinations of the amount of a secured claim (under amended Rule 3012) and lien avoidance (under amended Rule 4003(d)) through a chapter 12 or chapter 13 plan would not require an adversary proceeding.

*Rule 9009*. In order to ensure use of the chapter 13 plan form without significant alterations, the advisory committee proposed an amendment to Rule 9009. Because greater uniformity is a principal goal of the plan form, proposed amended Rule 9009 would limit the range of permissible changes to forms.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved for publication the proposed rule amendments related to the proposed new chapter 13 plan.

## K. Proposed Action: Publication of Proposed Amendments to Rule 5005 (electronic signatures)

Rule 5005 governs the filing and transmittal of papers. The advisory committee sought approval to publish for public comment a proposed amendment to Rule 5005 that would create a national bankruptcy rule permitting the use of electronic signatures of debtors and other individuals who are not registered users of CM/ECF, without requiring the retention of the original document bearing a handwritten signature.

The proposed amendment to Rule 5005 would allow the electronic filing of a scanned signature page bearing the original signature of a debtor or other non-filing user to be treated the same as a handwritten signature without requiring the retention of hard copies of documents. The scanned signature page and the related document would have to be filed as a single docket entry to provide clarity about the document that was being attested to by the non-filing user. The amended rule would also provide that the user name and password of a registered user of the CM/ECF system would be treated as that individual's signature on electronically filed documents. The validity of a signature submitted under the amended rule would still be subject to challenge, just as is true for a handwritten signature.

The proposal incorporates recommendations from the Inter-Committee CM/ECF Subcommittee, which is chaired by Judge Michael A. Chagares and which includes members of the Standing Committee, each of the advisory committees, and the Committee on Court Administration and Case Management. As noted, the amended rule would provide that the scanned signature of a non-filing user, when filed as part of a single filing with an electronic document, serves as a signature to that document – without any requirement that the original be retained. The subcommittee noted that once a non-filing user has a signature scanned, there is no assurance that the signature was to the original document – and that concern is

greater than with a hard copy, as it is less likely that a hard copy signature page would be attached to a number of documents. The subcommittee suggested publishing two alternative solutions to this issue. The advisory committee agreed with that suggestion and presented its proposed amendment to the Standing Committee with the suggested alternatives incorporated.

One alternative would be for the rule to state that the filing by the registered user is deemed a certification that the scanned signature was part of the original document. The second alternative would keep the filing lawyer out of the matter of any attestation about authenticity by using notaries public for that purpose. The Standing Committee accepted the recommendation of the CM/ECF Subcommittee and the Bankruptcy Rules Advisory Committee that Rule 5005(a)(3)(B) be published with both alternatives. It was agreed that publication of proposed Rule 5005(a)(3)(B) with both alternatives would allow careful public consideration of the problem of assuring that scanned signatures are a part of the original document. It would assure input from interested and knowledgeable members of the public on how best to protect against the possible misuse of electronic signatures.

Judges Fitzwater and Sutton again reminded the Standing Committee that the Evidence Rules Advisory Committee is hosting a technology symposium in Portland, Maine in October 2013, which would provide another forum to solicit public comment on alternative methods to verify electronic signatures.

Judge Chagares noted that the CM/ECF Subcommittee will examine whether there are other technology issues related to the Next Generation of CM/ECF that should be addressed across all the sets of rules. Professor Capra, the reporter to the subcommittee, will work with the advisory committee reporters to identify rules affected by electronic filing and CM/ECF. If common issues arise across the different sets of rules, a model might be developed for the sake of uniformity.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of the proposed amendment to Rule 5005, including an invitation for comment on the proposed alternative methods for assuring that a signature is part of the original document.

#### L. Proposed Action: Publication of Proposed Amendments to Rule 9006(f)

Rule 9006(f), which is modeled on Civil Rule 6(d), provides three additional days for a party to act "after service" if service is made by mail or under Civil Rule 5(b)(2)(D), (E), or (F). At the January 2013 meeting, the Standing Committee approved for publication a proposed amendment to Civil Rule 6(d) that would clarify that only the party that is served by mail or under the specified provisions of Civil Rule 5 – and not the party making service – is permitted to add three days to any prescribed period for taking action after service is made. Because Rule 9006(f) contains the same potential ambiguity as current Civil Rule 6(d), the advisory committee requested approval to publish a parallel amendment of the bankruptcy rule.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of the proposed amendments to Rule 9006(f).

### M. Proposed Action: Publication of Official Form 113 (new national Chapter 13 form)

The advisory committee recommended publication for public comment of a national plan form for chapter 13 cases. As described above in Item J, the plan form is the product of more than two years of study and consultation by the advisory committee.

The plan form includes ten parts. Beginning with a notice to interested parties (Part 1), the plan form covers: the amount, source, and length of the debtor's plan payments (Part 2); the treatment of secured claims (Part 3); the treatment of the trustee's fees, administrative claims, and other priority claims (Part 4); the treatment of unsecured claims not entitled to priority (Part 5); the treatment of executory contracts and unexpired leases (Part 6); the order of distribution of payments by the trustee (Part 7); the revesting of property of the estate with the debtor (Part 8); and nonstandard plan terms (Part 9). Part 10 is the signature box.

The plan form contains a number of significant features. First, it permits a debtor to propose to limit the amount of a secured claim (Part 3, § 3.2), to avoid certain liens as provided by the Bankruptcy Code (Part 3, § 3.4), and to include nonstandard terms that are not part of – or that deviate from – the official form (Part 9). In order to make any of these particular terms effective, however, the debtor must clearly indicate in Part 1 that the plan includes one or more of them by marking the appropriate checkbox. Thus, the face of the document will put the court, the trustee, and creditors on notice that the plan contains terms that may require additional scrutiny. Second, the plan form makes clear when it will control over a creditor's contrary proof of claim. For example, a debtor may propose to limit the amount of a nongovernmental secured claim under Code § 506(a) because the collateral securing it is worth less than the claim. The proposed amount of the secured claim would be binding, subject to a creditor's objection to the plan and a final determination of the issue in connection with plan confirmation. Otherwise, a creditor's proof of claim will control the amount and treatment of the claim, subject to a claim objection.

The treatment of nonstandard plan provisions has been a concern during the process of drafting the plan. As described earlier, Part 1 requires the debtor to indicate whether the plan form includes nonstandard terms. In order to give further assurance that the debtor has filed a plan form that otherwise adheres to the official form, the plan's signature box includes a certification to that effect. Thus, the plan form requires that the debtor's attorney (or the debtor, if pro se) must certify by signing the plan that all of its provisions are identical to the official form, except for nonstandard provisions located in Part 9.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of Official Form 113 (new national chapter 13 plan form).

#### N. Proposed Action: Publication of Individual Debtor Forms

The advisory committee requested publication of the following individual debtor forms to be effective December 2015:

101	Voluntary Petition for Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy
101A	Initial Statement About an Eviction Judgment Against You
101B	Statement About Payment of an Eviction Judgment Against You
104	List in Individual Chapter 11 Cases of Creditors Who Have the 20 Largest Unsecured Claims Against You and Are Not Insiders
105	Involuntary Petition Against an Individual
106Sum	Summary of Your Assets and Liabilities and Certain Statistical Information
106A/B	Schedule A/B: Property
106C	Schedule C: The Property You Claim as Exempt
106D	Schedule D: Creditors Who Hold Claims Secured by Property
106E/F	Schedule E/F: Creditors Who Have Unsecured Claims
106G	Schedule G: Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases
106H	Schedule H: Your Codebtors
106Dec	Declaration About an Individual Debtor's Schedules
107	Statement of Financial Affairs for Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy
112	Statement of Intention for Individuals Filing Under Chapter 7
119	Bankruptcy Petition Preparer's Notice, Declaration, and Signature
121	Statement About Your Social Security Numbers
318	Order of Discharge
423	Certification About a Financial Management Course
427	Cover Sheet for Reaffirmation Agreement

The advisory committee also requested approval to publish for comment an instruction booklet for individuals.

Although the normal effective date for official bankruptcy forms published in 2013 would be December 1, 2014, Judge Wedoff noted that the effective date for the restyled individual-debtor forms that will be initially published this summer will be delayed at least until December 1, 2015, in order to permit them to go into effect at the same time as the restyled forms for non-individual cases.

Action: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of the Individual Debtor Forms, along with an instruction booklet for individuals.

#### O. Proposed Action: Publication of Official Forms 17A, 17B, and 17C

The advisory committee proposed publishing Official Forms 17A, 17B, and 17C, in connection with the revision of Part VIII of the Bankruptcy Rules, which govern bankruptcy appeals. Form 17A would be an amended and renumbered notice-of-appeal form, and Forms 17B and 17C would be new.

Proposed Form 17A would include in the Notice of Appeal a section for the appellant's optional statement of election to have the appeal heard by the district court rather than by the bankruptcy appellate panel. It would only be applicable in districts for which appeals to a bankruptcy appellate panel have been authorized.

New Form 17B – the Optional Appellee Statement of Election to Proceed in the District Court – would be the form that an appellee would file if it wanted the appeal to be heard by the district court and the appellant or another appellee did not make that election.

New Form 17C – Certificate of Compliance with Rule 8015(a)(7)(B) or 8016(d)(2) – would provide a means for a party to certify compliance with the provisions of the bankruptcy appellate rules that prescribe limitations on brief length based on number of words or lines of text (the "type-volume limitation"). It is based on Appellate Form 6, which implements the parallel provisions of Appellate Rule 32(a)(7)(B).

The advisory committee sought approval for publication this summer so that the proposed amendments would be scheduled to take effect December 1, 2014, the same effective date as is anticipated for the revised Part VIII rules.

<u>Action</u>: The Standing Committee, by voice vote without objection, approved publication of Official Forms 17A, 17B, and 17C.

#### REPORT OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE

Benjamin Robinson gave a short report on recent activity by the Rules Committee Support Office (RCSO) to deal with the expected flood of public comments arising from the publication of the proposed amendments to the Civil Rules and Bankruptcy Rules in August 2013. He stated that 250 public comments had been received after the January 2013 meeting of the Standing Committee and were being held for filing during the comment period. These showed some earmarks of an organized letter writing campaign and more were expected.

After consulting with the Administrative Conference of the United States and others heavily involved in rule-making activities, Mr. Robinson worked with the webmasters and designers of regulations.gov – a website currently used by more than 30 departments and 150 agencies for their rulemaking activities. As a result of these efforts, on August 15, 2013, the RCSO will activate a website on regulations.gov that will allow the electronic filing and docketing of comments on proposed rules. This new system should add to the transparency and realtime accessibility of public comments to the committees, their reporters, and the general public.

#### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Judge Sutton confirmed with Judge Campbell that one of the public hearings on the proposed Civil Rules would take place on Thursday, January 9, 2014. Attendance by members of the Standing Committee is encouraged but not required. Mr. Robinson noted that the RCSO would attempt to make the hearing available in courthouses through video conference and otherwise by teleconference. Judge Sutton confirmed that the Standing Committee will meet on Friday, January 10. The Standing Committee dinner will be Thursday evening, January 9. Judge Sutton then thanked everyone for the productive meeting and declared it adjourned.

#### **NEXT MEETING**

The Standing Committee will hold its next meeting in Phoenix, Arizona on January 9 and 10, 2014.